
Faculty Senate Constitution

Table of Contents

- Preamble
- Article I: Definitions and Principles
 - Definitions
 - Faculty Senate Members
 - Principles of Participation
- Article II: The Faculty Senate
 - Membership and Organization
 - Meetings and Quorum
 - Functions
 - Privilege and Tenure Committee
- Article III: Faculty Council
 - Membership and Organization
 - Meetings, Quorum and Attendance
 - Elections
 - Functions
 - Faculty Council Committees
 - Membership and Organization
 - Meetings and Quorum
 - Functions
 - Reporting and Coordination
 - Relationship with Administrative Officers
- Article IV: Campus Faculty Government
- Article V: Powers and Responsibilities of the Faculties of the Colleges and Schools
- Article VI: Resolution of Jurisdictional Disputes
- Article VII: Procedural Standards
- Article VIII: Amendments to the Constitution and Bylaws
- Article IX: Adoption and Enablement

Preamble

This constitution provides a system for participation of faculty in the governance of the university as specified in the Laws of the Regents of the University of Colorado, which enumerate the rights, privileges and responsibilities of the faculty, including preservation of academic freedom. Participation occurs through faculty organizations at the university level (Articles II-III), at the campus level (Article IV) and at the college and school level (Article V).

The faculty and administration derive authority and responsibility from the Board of Regents. The variety and complexity of university governance involves collaborative relationships among the regents, the president, administrators, faculty, staff and students. The principles underlying this collaboration are enumerated in Article I.B.

Procedural aspects of these principles are enumerated in the associated Bylaws of the Faculty Senate of the University of Colorado (hereinafter referred to as "the Bylaws").

Article I. Definitions and Principles

A. Definitions.

1. General Faculty. The general faculty consists of persons enumerated in Article 5 of the Laws of the Regents .
2. Faculty Government.

The faculty government exists and derives its powers from the authority delegated to it by the Board of Regents. These powers and duties must be exercised in accordance with the Laws of the Regents , regent policies and the laws, regulations and constitutions of the State of Colorado and of the United States.

As the most durable and stable of the constituencies immediately involved with the academic operation of the institution, the faculty has direct responsibility for academic freedom.

As provided in the Laws of the Regents, the faculty shall formulate faculty governance to effect the principles established under Article I.B. The faculty government bodies are the Faculty Senate and its committee(s), the Faculty Council and its committees, the campus faculty senates, the campus faculty assemblies and their committees and the faculties of the colleges and schools of the university. Colleges or schools, as provided in the Laws of the Regents, may be further divided into departments or divisions.

- a. The Faculty Senate consists of all members of the general faculty of the University of Colorado (hereinafter referred to as "the University") with the following titles whose appointments are fifty-percent or more:

professor
associate professor
assistant professor
senior instructor
instructor
scholar in residence
artist in residence

Adjoint, attendant, clinical and research faculty with fifty-percent or more appointments in the above ranks are also members of the Faculty Senate; visiting professors are not. The designated representative from the Retired Faculty Association to the Faculty Council shall be a member of the Faculty Senate during her/his tenure as representative. Ex officio members with the right to vote are the president of the university; the vice presidents; the chancellors; the vice chancellors; all deans; the directors of the budget, libraries and museum; and professors emeriti and emeritae. University officers should not exercise their rights to vote if they are in a position to act on a recommendation. As faculty titles are created, the Faculty Council shall determine whether those faculty members may be voting members of the Faculty Senate.

- The Faculty Council

is the representative governing body of the Faculty Senate and consists of senate members elected or appointed as provided in Article III. The standing committees of the Faculty Council are those defined in Article III. From time to time, the Faculty Council may establish such other special committees as it may deem appropriate.

- The campus faculty senates

consist of those members of the Faculty Senate whose appointments are seated at the campus in question and such other members of the general faculty of the university as may be made members of that campus faculty senate by its faculty constitution.

- The campus faculty assemblies

are the representative governing bodies of the campus faculty senates and consist of members of that senate elected or appointed as may be provided in the faculty constitution of the campus in question. Committees of faculty assemblies shall be established as provided in the relevant campus constitution.

- The faculties of the colleges and schools

are those established in the Laws of the Regents and as further defined by the rules of the college or school in question.

- Senate Year.

The senate year shall be from July 1 to June 30, inclusive. The terms of all elected members of the Faculty Council, of faculty members of Senate and Council committees and of campus faculty assemblies shall conform to the senate year. Election of new members of the Faculty Council and of standing committees of the Faculty Council shall take place in the spring semester.

B. Principles of Participation.

It is a guiding principle of the shared governance recognized by the Board of Regents that the faculty and the administration shall collaborate in major decisions affecting the academic welfare of the university. The nature of that collaboration, shared as appropriate with students and staff, varies according to the nature of the decisions in question. The faculty takes the lead in decisions concerning selection of faculty, educational policy related to teaching, curriculum, research, academic ethics and other academic matters. The administration takes the lead in matters of internal operations and external relations of the university. In every case, the faculty and the administration participate in the governance and operation of the university as provided by and in accordance with the laws and policies of the Board of Regents, and the laws and regulations of the State of Colorado. The chair or other designated representative of the Faculty Council shall be the spokesperson for the faculty when addressing the Board of Regents on matters of importance to shared governance.

1. The faculty shall have the principal role in the origination of academic policy and standards, including initial authorization and direction of all courses, curricula, and degrees offered, admissions criteria, regulation of student academic conduct and activities, and determination of candidates for degrees.
2. The faculty shall have principal role in the origination of scholastic policy, including scholastic standards and requirements for admission, grading (consistent with the Uniform Grading System of the university), continuation, graduation and honors. As required by Article 4 of the Laws of the Regents, the deans of the colleges and schools shall have responsibility for enforcement of admissions standards and requirements.
3. In the selection and evaluation of faculty, the faculty shall have the principal role, subject to the concurrence of the administration and the ultimate authority of the Board of Regents or its designee(s).
4. In establishing policies and procedures for faculty appointment, reappointment, promotion, tenure and post-tenure review and establishing policies and procedures for the appeal of decisions in these areas, the faculty shall collaborate with the campus and system administrations in the development of recommendations to the president for submission to the Board of Regents.
5. In the selection and evaluation of department chairs and academic administrators, the faculty shall collaborate with the campus and system administrations in the development of recommendations for submission to the Board of Regents or its designee(s).
6. In establishing and reviewing budget policies and plans for resource allocation, the faculty shall collaborate with the campus or system administration in the development of recommendations to the chancellor or the president, as appropriate, for submission to the Board of Regents. This includes review for new academic degree program proposals, academic program review and program discontinuance.
7. In the preparation of budgets, the administration shall have the principal role, with collaboration with the appropriate faculty governance unit(s), subject to the ultimate authority of the Board of Regents or its designee(s).
8. In the making of other policy concerning the general academic welfare of the university, the faculty shall collaborate with the administration in developing recommendations to the president for submission to the Board of Regents.
9. Administrative policy changes with respect to matters listed in I.B that affect faculty shall be promulgated only after consultation with appropriate faculty governance bodies.
10. In Articles II-IV, which define the structure and functions of faculty governance at different university levels, other aspects of faculty participation are specified.

C. Faculty Governance Service. Faculty governance work shall be included for consideration in annual merit evaluations and in other evaluation processes. Differential workloads may be negotiated by the faculty member and the chair of the appropriate academic unit when faculty governance roles exceed the time normally expected by the university service mission. The chair of the appropriate governance unit shall be consulted in determining whether the time and effort normally expected by the university service mission will be exceeded. Appropriate compensation, within the limits of system and campus policies, shall be negotiated for the service of officers and committee chairs in the ongoing business of faculty governance.

D. Procedures. Procedures for all faculty governance bodies of the university shall be as specified herein or in the appropriate bylaws or, if not so provided, according to the latest edition of Robert's Rules of Order.

Article II. The Faculty Senate

A. Membership and Organization. The membership of the Faculty Senate is described in Article I.A.2.a above. The president of the university shall be the president of the Faculty Senate. The chair of Faculty Council shall be the vice president of the Faculty Senate.

B. Meetings and Quorum. The Faculty Senate shall meet semi-annually, as well as: 1) upon the call of the president or vice president of the Faculty Senate; 2) upon a resolution passed by a two-thirds majority of the entire voting membership of the Faculty Council; or 3) upon a petition signed by at least two hundred members of the Faculty Senate and submitted to the chair of the Faculty Council. Such calls, resolutions, or petitions shall set forth the specific purpose for calling the meeting. There must be at least 72-hours' notice to the faculty of a Faculty Senate meeting. The members of the Faculty Senate present at a meeting shall constitute a quorum. Proxy voting shall not be permitted.

The vice president of the Faculty Senate shall preside at meetings of the Senate and, in the absence of the vice president, the vice chair of the Faculty Council shall preside. The vice president of the Faculty Senate shall be responsible for having the minutes of meetings of the Faculty Senate recorded, preserved and published.

C. Functions.

1. The Faculty Senate, at its meetings, shall, as appropriate:
 - a. hear reports of the president of the university, of the chair of the Faculty Council, and of committees of the Faculty Senate and Faculty Council
 - b. discuss issues raised by members of the faculty and administration
 - c. refer matters that it wishes to have studied to the Faculty Council, to any or all of the campus faculty assemblies, or to the appropriate standing or special committee(s)
 - d. establish special committees or procedures
 - e. dissolve special committees or revise procedures
 - f. refer to a mail ballot any substantive motions or resolutions that require a vote of the full Faculty Senate
2. Procedures. The Faculty Senate may act at any meeting upon matters of a procedural nature and may act to approve motions from the Privilege and Tenure Committee concerning changes in its bylaws or grievance procedures. It may act upon other substantive motions or resolutions before it only by deciding whether or not to refer the matter to a mail ballot of the whole membership of the Faculty Senate, as hereinafter provided in C.3 of this Article, and this rule may not be waived or suspended. Recommendations, motions or resolutions may originate from any member of the Faculty Senate, the Faculty Council or any of their committees. The Faculty Senate may amend the form of the matter before it and make recommendations to the originator(s) for further disposition.
3. Mail Ballots. A mail ballot, using USPS, campus mail, electronic mail and/or their recognized equivalents, on any subject may be authorized by a majority vote at any Faculty Senate or Faculty Council meeting. The text of any motion or resolution from a Faculty Senate member or the Faculty Council requiring action by the Faculty Senate through a mail ballot shall be distributed to the members of the Faculty Senate or published at least 72 hours in advance of the time of the meeting at which the proposal to conduct a mail ballot shall be brought to a vote. A two-thirds majority of those responding to the mail ballot shall be necessary for passage of motions or resolutions, and the vote shall be valid only if at least 200 responses to the mail ballot are received. Responses shall be made to the office of the Faculty Council. The ballots shall be tallied and the results certified by the Executive Committee of the Faculty Council. Mail ballots shall be distributed only after September 1 and prior to May 1 in any year. The date upon which the votes shall be tallied shall be

provided. Except in extraordinary circumstances, that date shall be not less than thirty (30) days from the time of distribution of the ballots. Any exceptions to these procedures will be stated in this constitution where those exceptions apply.

4. Initiative. Petitions for action of the Faculty Senate by initiative shall be in writing and shall contain the complete text of the motion on which a vote is sought. If such a petition is signed by not less than 200 members of the Faculty Senate, the chair of the Faculty Council shall refer the matter to a vote of the full Faculty Senate by mail ballot as provided in C.3 of this Article. Such petitions also may be used to initiate amendments to this constitution, but in such cases the mail ballot shall be subject also to the requirements of Article VIII.
5. Referendum. Petitions to rescind any action of the Faculty Council by referring the matter to the full Faculty Senate shall be in writing and shall contain the complete text of the motion on which a vote is sought. If such a petition is signed by not less than 200 members of the Faculty Senate, the chair of the Faculty Council shall refer the matter to a vote of the full Faculty Senate by mail ballot, as provided in C.3 of this Article.

D. Faculty Senate Standing Committee(s).

1. Privilege and Tenure Committee (P & T Committee).

- a. Definitions of Tenure, Privileges and Rights of Faculty. Tenure is one of the principal means of protecting the academic freedom of faculty. Tenure and privileges are enumerated in the Laws of the Regents. Faculty rights are enumerated in the Laws of the Regents and Regent Policies, and must also conform to the laws, regulations and constitutions of the United States and the State of Colorado.
- b. Membership and Organization. Members of the P & T Committee shall be approved by their respective faculty assemblies and then by Faculty Council and shall serve a term of three years. Terms are renewable. Efforts shall be made to ensure equal representation from all campuses and broad participation from diverse groups. The P & T Committee is organized as investigative panels, each with a chair. The committee officers and panel chairs shall be elected by the entire committee. No member of the faculty shall be eligible to sit on the committee for one academic year following the final decision about a grievance in which that faculty member is either the grievant or other interested party.
- c. Meetings and Quorum. The P & T Committee shall meet at least once during each of the fall and spring semesters and on the call of the chair. The quorum for a meeting of the P & T Committee shall consist of a majority of the voting members of the committee. Proxy voting shall not be permitted.
- d. Functions. The P & T Committee, through its panel structure, conducts investigations and mediations of, and hearings on, grievances concerning faculty rights, privileges, and tenure, including reappointments with or without tenure, promotions, post-tenure review and suspensions, that are submitted by members of the Faculty Senate. The P & T Committee considers contemplated dismissals for cause referred by the president or chancellor. In dismissal cases, the burden of proof shall be upon the university; in all other cases, the burden of proof shall be upon the faculty member. For all grievance cases, written conclusions and recommendations are made to the president and/or chancellor, as appropriate, with a copy to the grievant(s).

The P & T committee shall make recommendations concerning university policies and procedures on faculty rights and privileges that arise from the outcomes of grievance investigations. The P & T Committee shall also make recommendations concerning practices and procedures which appear to precipitate complaints. These recommendations shall be made to the Executive Committee of the Faculty Council for appropriate referral. The P & T Committee shall recommend additions or revisions to its bylaws and grievance procedures to the appropriate bodies for approval. Grievance Procedures. The investigations, hearings and mediations of the P & T Committee shall be confidential, systematic and objective, as guided by the procedures for this purpose, which are enumerated in the Bylaws.

- e. Legal Counsel. The chair of the P&T Committee is authorized by the Board of Regents to select licensed legal counsel, separate and distinct from the Office of the University Counsel and not under the supervision of the University Counsel, to advise the P&T Committee on issues of a legal nature which arise in the course of the committee's investigation or informal hearing of an individual grievance. The chair's selection of the individual attorney to provide advice to the committee is subject to the approval of University Counsel and other approvals required by law.

Article III. Faculty Council

A. Membership and Organization.

1. Composition. The Faculty Council shall be composed of: the officers of the Faculty Council (chair, vice chair and secretary); the most recently retired chair of the Faculty Council for the year following retirement as chair; three representatives from each of the campuses of the university; the chairs of the campus faculty assemblies; the chairs of the standing committees of the Faculty Council and of the Faculty Senate; and a representative from the Retired Faculty Association.

Each campus faculty assembly shall be responsible for selecting the campus's representatives to serve on Faculty Council. When a member of Faculty Council becomes an officer of the Council or a chair of a committee, the faculty assembly losing the Council member as a representative is entitled to select a replacement member. Faculty Council representatives must be members of the campus senate on the campus which they represent.

Faculty Council representatives from the campus faculty assemblies shall serve a term of three years, with the terms of the representatives from a given campus being staggered so that no more than one representative will retire each year. After completing two consecutive three-year terms and being off the Faculty Council for at least one year, a faculty member can again be elected or appointed to the Faculty Council by the respective campus faculty assembly. Faculty assemblies may vote to recall and replace their representatives during a term.

The president of the university and the vice president for academic affairs and research shall be ex officio members of the Faculty Council without vote.

2. Officers. The Faculty Council shall elect a chair, a vice chair and a secretary, each for a one-year term. Candidates must be members of the Faculty Senate. It is customary over time for Faculty Council officers to be selected from all of the campuses of the university, and distribution across campuses is encouraged at each election. Elections to replace an officer who does not complete a term shall be for the balance of the term with opportunity of succession.

Recall of Faculty Council Officers and Committee Officers. Officers of the Faculty Council may be recalled by a two-thirds majority vote of the members of the Council eligible to vote. Officers of any standing committee of the Faculty Council may be recalled by a two-thirds majority vote of the members of the committee eligible to vote. In the event of recall, a new election shall be held as soon as possible by the Faculty Council or by the committee in question to replace the recalled officer. Further procedures are specified in the Bylaws.

3. Executive Committee.
 - a. Membership. The Executive Committee of the Faculty Council shall consist of:
 - the three officers of the Council
 - the most recently retired chair of the Council for the year following retirement from chair
 - the chairs of the campus assemblies
 - b. Meetings. The Executive Committee shall meet at least once between monthly meetings of the Faculty Council. It shall meet during the summer and shall have the authority to speak for the Faculty Council at any time on emergency matters that must be dealt with before the Faculty Council can be convened.
 - c. Functions. The primary function of the Executive Committee shall be to ensure that all four campuses are appropriately represented in the activities of the Faculty Council and that faculty governance plays a significant role in the decision-making processes of the university at the system level.

B. Meetings, Quorum and Attendance.

1. Meetings and Quorum. The Faculty Council shall meet at least eight times during the academic year and on the call of the chair. A quorum for both the Council and the Executive Committee shall consist of a majority of the eligible members. Proxy voting shall not be permitted. Meeting procedures are specified in the Bylaws.
2. Notice of Motion. On all substantive matters of new business, written notice of motion shall be given. Motion procedures are specified in the Bylaws.
3. Committee Reports. The Faculty Senate committee and all Faculty Council committees shall report to the Faculty Council on a regular basis. Report procedures are specified in the Bylaws.
4. Attendance. Members of the Faculty Council may become ineligible to serve due to unexcused absences from meetings. Ineligibility procedures are specified in the Bylaws.

C. Elections. Elections of the Faculty Council members and of Faculty Council officers shall be held annually. Election procedures are specified in the Bylaws.

D. Functions. The Faculty Council, as the executive body of the Faculty Senate, shall initiate advice and recommendations to the president or other appropriate administrative officials for submission to the Board of Regents on matters within the jurisdiction of the Council which are related to educational policy, internal operations and external operation of the university. Each such recommendation shall indicate its legislative history, that is, where it originated, whether it was approved by the Faculty Council, the Faculty Senate, one or more campus faculty assemblies, one or more committees, or the faculty of one or more colleges and schools, and shall record the final votes taken on the recommendation by any of these bodies.

E. Jurisdiction. The Faculty Council shall have jurisdiction over faculty governance matters affecting more than one campus of the university.

F. Joint Responsibility with System Administration. The Faculty Council shall take the initiative for establishing, by mutual agreement with the university president, procedures governing the form and nature of consultation that is to occur between them, the nature of the issues on which consultation is to be required, and matters as to which notice of impending action shall be given. The agreement shall provide for a basic budget to cover staff support, office expenses, travel and appropriate operation of faculty governance, so that only appropriate variations need be negotiated from year to year. Both the Faculty Council and its committees and the officers of the university administration shall communicate with each other through appropriate channels.

G. Faculty Council Committees.

The following are the standing committees of the Faculty Council. The primary purview of each standing committee is listed herein; specific matters of consideration are enumerated in the Bylaws. Standing committees may also give attention to other matters not specifically enumerated but clearly within their purviews.

- Budget Committee. The Budget Committee considers matters concerning the allocation of university resources.
- Committee on Women. The Committee on Women considers concerns of women faculty.
- Educational Policy and University Standards Committee. The Educational Policy and University Standards (EPUS) Committee considers and recommends policies on education and academic and procedural standards.
- Ethnic Minority Affairs Committee. The Ethnic Minority Affairs Committee (EMAC) considers concerns of ethnic minority faculty.
- Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual and Transgender Issues Committee. The Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual and Transgender Issues (GLBT) Committee considers concerns of gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender faculty.
- Learning, Educational Technology, Teaching and Scholarship Committee. The Learning, Educational Technology, Teaching and Scholarship (LETTs) Committee considers and works with multi-campus initiatives to foster educational and research efforts by supporting innovative educational practices, creative use of technology and interdisciplinary collaboration.
- Personnel Committee. The Personnel Committee considers policies in the general area of university faculty personnel and benefits.

The Faculty Council may establish other committees as necessary. Standing committees can be created or dissolved only with a constitutional amendment.

1. Membership and Organization. The membership and organization of each committee is described in the Bylaws. The chair of each committee becomes a member of the Faculty Council upon election as chair. Terms of committee members shall be three years, with renewal possible for an additional three-year term. At least one year without membership must follow each pair of three-year terms. Terms of the representatives from a given campus shall be staggered. The chair of the Faculty Council shall be an ex officio member of all Faculty Council committees. The structure of special committees and other bodies established by Faculty Council may vary.
Officers. Each standing committee shall elect a chair, vice chair and secretary. The secretary shall be responsible for recording and preserving appropriate minutes of discussions and actions taken by the committee and for transmitting these to the person next succeeding in that office and to the Faculty Council Office.
2. Meetings and Quorum. A quorum for a committee meeting shall consist of the majority of the voting members. Proxy voting shall not be permitted.

3. Functions. Committees shall act as official faculty advisory panels to the Faculty Council with regard to matters within their purviews at the system level as listed above. They shall make continuous evaluations of university policies, procedures and standards within these purviews and shall make recommendations to the Faculty Council for appropriate measures for changes and improvements systemwide. Recommendations of the committees must be approved by Faculty Council before being transmitted to system administration and the Board of Regents.
4. Reporting and Coordination. Standing committees are responsible to and shall report to the Faculty Council. Oral or written reports shall be made by the committee chair to the Faculty Council or to its Executive Committee, as requested by the chair of the Faculty Council. An annual written report of the activities of the committee, suitable for publication, shall be made at the end of the senate year. Members of standing committees elected or appointed from each campus shall be responsible for reporting to their faculty assemblies and to the cognate committees on the campus level to ensure that all groups concerned with particular matters are kept informed of the activities of other groups working on the same or related matters.
5. Relationships with Administrative Officers . The standing committees of the Faculty Council shall be responsible for developing and maintaining close working relationships with the officers of the university system administration whose duties are related to the concerns of the committee in question. Such officers may be invited by the committee to meet with it, as ex officio members without vote, to ensure open communication. Faculty Council committee actions or recommendations shall be provided officially to the administration or any officer thereof only by formal action of the Faculty Council.

Article IV. Campus Faculty Government

A. Campus Constitution. Each campus faculty senate shall establish a campus faculty constitution, through an affirmative vote of not less than two thirds of the campus faculty senate members voting on the constitution. That constitution shall be consistent with this University of Colorado Faculty Senate Constitution, the Laws of the Regents , regent policies and the laws, regulations and constitutions of the State of Colorado and of the United States. The constitution shall establish a campus faculty assembly as the representative body of campus faculty governance and may make such other provisions as the campus faculty senate shall deem appropriate.

B. Campus Faculty Assembly

1. Membership and Organization Membership and organization of each faculty assembly shall be described in its constitution and bylaws.

Officers. Each campus faculty assembly shall elect a chair, a vice chair and a secretary, and shall constitute an executive committee which has powers to act between meetings of the assembly. The officers and executive committee are responsible for ensuring that the members of the campus faculty senate are kept informed of the activities of the faculty assembly and its committees.

2. Functions and Responsibilities. As provided by and in accordance with the laws and policies of the Board of Regents, the campus faculty assembly shall have the following powers and responsibilities:
 - a. Joint Responsibility with Campus Administration. The faculty assembly shall take the initiative for establishing, by mutual agreement with the chancellor or vice chancellor for academic affairs for that campus, procedures governing the form and nature of consultation that is to occur between them, the nature of the issues in which consultation is to be required and matters as to which notice of impending action shall be given. The agreement shall provide for a basic budget to cover staff support, office expenses, travel and appropriate operation of faculty governance, so that only appropriate variations need be negotiated from year to year. Both the faculty assembly and its committees and the officers of the campus administration shall be responsible for communicating with each other through appropriate channels.
 - b. Relationship with Faculty Council. Each campus faculty assembly shall be responsible for electing or appointing its campus's representatives to the Faculty Council and the Faculty Council committees, as provided in Article III hereof, and for ensuring that the activities of the assembly and its committees are coordinated with the activities of the Faculty Council and its committees.
 - c. Selection and evaluation of the Chancellor. The campus faculty assembly shall nominate to the president faculty members to serve on the search committee for the selection of the chancellor of the campus. In addition, the campus faculty assembly shall work with the president on comprehensive evaluation(s) of the chancellor of that campus. The president makes recommendations to the Board of Regents for the chancellor's selection and retention

3. Jurisdiction. Faculty assemblies shall have jurisdiction over faculty governance matters affecting more than one college or school on the campus in question.

Article V. Powers and Responsibilities of the Faculties of the Colleges and Schools

A. College and School Governance. The faculty of the college or school shall formulate its own governance, including the appropriate structures to sustain and implement its powers and responsibilities, insofar as they affect only the college or school in question. Such rules shall be consistent with the Laws of the Regents and Regent Policies.

B. Academic and Scholastic Responsibilities. As provided by and in accordance with the Laws of the Regents , regent policies and the laws and regulations of the State of Colorado, a college or school faculty shall collaborate in the governance of the college or school with its administration as to all matters that concern only the college or school in question.

1. Academic Responsibilities. The college or school faculty shall have the principal role in the origination of academic policy and standards, including initial authorization and direction of all courses, curricula, and degrees offered, admissions criteria, regulation of student academic conduct and activities, and determination of candidates for degrees.
2. Scholastic Responsibilities. The college or school faculty shall also have the principal role in the origination of scholastic policy, including scholastic standards and requirements for admission, grading (consistent with the Uniform Grading System of the university), continuation, graduation and honors.

C. Participation with the Administration of the College or School. As provided by and in accordance with the *Laws of the Regents*, regent policies and the laws and regulations of the State of Colorado, the faculty of the college or school shall collaborate with the administration of the college or school in:

1. recruiting and evaluating candidates for appointment to the faculty of the college or school
2. establishing policies and procedures with respect to faculty personnel matters within the college or school
3. reviewing budgets and developing recommendations concerning resources of the college or school
4. taking major initiatives, including changes in goals or programs which may affect significantly the allocation of resources to existing programs
5. making other policy concerning the general academic welfare of the college or school

Article VI. Resolution of Jurisdictional Disputes

A. Campus Assembly vs. Faculty Council. In the event of a dispute between the Faculty Council and a campus faculty assembly as to whether Council or assembly action is permissible under Article IV.B.3 and Article III.D, or if adopted would result in encroachment on the responsibilities delegated to the campus faculty assembly or the Faculty Council, a conference committee may be formed to resolve the dispute, as further specified in the Bylaws.

B. Campus Governance Body vs. Campus Academic Unit. In the event of a dispute between a campus faculty assembly or other governance body and a college, school or other academic unit as to whether proposed action is permissible under Articles IV and V, or whether, if adopted, it would result in an encroachment on the responsibilities delegated to the campus governance body or the academic unit, a conference committee may be formed to resolve the dispute, as further specified in the Bylaws. The proposed resolution shall be subject to the concurrence of the chancellor. If the chancellor does not concur, the committee shall be provided an explanation.

C. Disputes over Formation of Conference Committees. In the event that the representatives of the disputing parties under A or B of this Article are unable to agree on the additional members of the conference committees, the disagreement shall be resolved in an orderly manner, as further specified in the Bylaws.

D. Disputes over Administrative Decisions. In cases in which differences cannot be resolved between faculty governance bodies and administrative units, the Faculty Council, through its designated representative, may refer the matter to the president.

Article VII. Procedural Standards

A. In all faculty matters, in the absence of other governing procedures and in conformance to the Laws of the Regents and Regent Policies, Robert's Rules of Order shall be in effect for formally constituted faculty groups. Each such faculty group shall have rules and/or bylaws to govern internal procedures. Up-to-date copies of the rules and/or bylaws must be readily available to all members. Each such faculty group shall maintain a file of the minutes of all of its meetings. Except as they deal with personnel matters and are included in individual personnel files, the written minutes of meetings of the group shall be available to all members of the group. In addition, in the absence of other governing procedures, such formally constituted faculty groups shall observe the following principles:

1. When such faculty group is voting on an issue, a secret written ballot shall be held if two or more members of the group so request.
2. Proxy voting shall not be permitted except as provided in the rules and/or bylaws of the group.
3. Such faculty group may call a special meeting of that group by a petition that sets forth the reason for the meeting. Each faculty group may determine the minimum size of the group needed to call such a meeting.

B. Although the right to participate in faculty governance is open to all faculty and no member of the faculty shall be penalized for such participation, the right to vote shall be accorded only to members of the Faculty Senate. A faculty group may vote (2/3 majority required for passage) to extend voting rights at its meetings to other faculty.

Article VIII. Amendments to the Constitution and Bylaws

A. Amendments to the Constitution. Amendments to this constitution shall be made only by a motion or resolution and a mail ballot to the full voting membership of the Faculty Senate, who shall be provided the full text of the proposed amendment(s). A mail ballot proposing amendment(s) may be authorized by a simple majority vote either at a Faculty Senate meeting or at a meeting of the Faculty Council. Mail ballots shall be conducted as outlined in Article II.C.3, except that the ballots shall be distributed only after September 1 and prior to April 1 and shall not be tallied sooner than 60 days from the time of their distribution. Approved amendments shall go into effect 60 days after approval. Amendments that require enabling revisions to the Laws of the Regents or regent policies shall go into effect upon approval of those revisions by the Board of Regents.

B. Amendments to the Bylaws. Amendments to the Bylaws shall be orderly. Procedures for amendments to bylaws of the Faculty Senate committee(s) are specified in Bylaws, section II.C.2; procedures for amendments to all other bylaws are specified in the Bylaws, section VIII.B. Amendments that require enabling revisions to the Laws of the Regents or regent policies shall go into effect upon approval of those revisions by the Board of Regents.

Article IX. Adoption and Enablement

[Click here to see corresponding section of the Bylaws]

This constitution shall be published and submitted to the members of the Faculty Senate, who shall vote by mail ballot for its adoption. The mail ballot shall be conducted as outlined in Article II.C.3, except that the ballots shall be distributed only after September 1 and prior to April 1 and shall not be tallied sooner than 60 days or later than 75 days from the time of their distribution. The constitution shall go into effect upon approval by the Faculty Senate. The constitution, if approved as described above, shall be submitted to the Board of Regents. Sections of the constitution that require enabling revisions to the Laws of the Regents or regent policies shall go into effect upon approval of those revisions by the Board of Regents.

[1] Supersedes: Constitution of the Faculty of the University of Colorado (1992 & 1994) and Rules of the Faculty Senate (1988 & previous editions)